1986

# Le Ann Schultz v. Weldon Conger : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

IS DRIVING A MOTOR VEHICLE AN ACTIVITY WHICH IS UNIQUELY GOVERNMENTAL IN NATURE SO AS TO BRING THE DRIVER WITHIN THE PROTECTION OF THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 63-30-1, ET. SEQ. (1953, AS AMENDED)?

IS IT A DENIAL OF EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW TO GRANT GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN ACTIVITIES THAT ARE NOT UNIQUELY GOVERNMENTAL IN NATURE IMMUNITY NOT ENJOYED BY NON-GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN THE SAME CONDUCT?

IS IT A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS OF THE LAW TO REQUIRE A NOTICE OF CLAIM WHEN THE INJURED PARTY IS NOT AWARE OF ANY GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITY?

IS A MOTION TO DISMISS PROPER WHEN FACTUAL ISSUES REMAIN UNRESOLVED?

IS THE NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 63-30-13 (1953, AS AMENDED) SATISFIED WHEN A THIRD PARTY PROVIDES THE NOTICE?

## FACTS

On March 9, 1984, the Plaintiff/Appellant (hereinafter "Schultz") while driving her vehicle, was struck from behind by a vehicle driven by the Defendant/Respondent (hereinafter "Conger"). The vehicle driven by Conger has subsequently been determined to be owned by Salt Lake County, although there were no markings or other indications on the vehicle or license plates to indicate such at the time of the accident [Rec. pp. 23, 66]. Conger was further dressed in civilian clothing, with no indication that he was an employee of Salt Lake County [Rec. pp. 24, 66]. Schultz was not placed on notice that Conger was a governmental employee acting within the scope of his employment [rec. pp. 23, 24].

On March 14, 1984, Schultz' automobile insurance carrier, State Farm Automobile Insurance Company (hereinafter "State Farm") filed a Proof of Claim with the Salt Lake County Board of Commissioners [Rec. pp. 34]. The County recognized this claim and paid in excess of \$6,000.00 on the claim [Rec. pp. 35].

Schultz gave no other notice [Rec. pp. 67] and filed her complaint with the Salt Lake County Clerk's office on October 23, 1985 [Rec. pps. 2 through 7]. Conger filed a Motion to Dismiss on November 6, 1985 [Rec. pgs. 8-10], claiming that since Schultz had not filed a separate Notice of Claim pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, Section 63-30-13 (1953, as amended), that the Statute of Limitations had expired. The lower Court, the Honorable Leonard H. Russon, presiding,



granted Conger's Motion by an Order dated March 17, 1986  
[Rec. pgs 66-67].

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

##### I

THE CONDUCT IN THIS CASE IS NOT UNIQUELY GOVERNMENTAL IN  
NATURE AND THUS THERE IS NO IMMUNITY

##### II

IT IS A DENIAL OF EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW TO GRANT  
GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES IMMUNITY NOT ENJOYED BY NON-  
GOVERNMENTAL  
EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN THE SAME CONDUCT

##### III

THE NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT  
IS A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

##### IV

FACTUAL ISSUES REMAIN UNRESOLVED WHICH PRECLUDE THE  
GRANTING OF A MOTION TO DISMISS

##### V

THE NOTICE PROVIDED BY STATE FARM INSURANCE COMPANY  
SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS OF UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 63-  
30-13 (1953, AS AMENDED).

## ARGUMENT

### I

#### THE CONDUCT IN THIS CASE IS NOT UNIQUELY GOVERNMENTAL IN NATURE AND THUS THERE IS NO IMMUNITY

The recent decisions of this Court make it clear that there is no immunity arising from conduct that is not uniquely governmental in its nature. This standard was set forth in Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 605 P.2d 1230 (Utah 1980) where this Court held that the operation and maintenance of a public golf course was not a uniquely governmental function and permitted the Plaintiff to proceed with her suit. Justice Stewart, writing for the Court, stated:

We therefore hold that the test for determining governmental immunity is whether the activity under consideration is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity. Clearly, this new standard broadens governmental liability. However, the position is consistent with the plain legislative intent in Section 63-30-1 et. seq. to expand governmental liability  
. . .

Finally, and not the least of our concerns, the standard we adopt today to narrow governmental immunity should allow more innocent victims injured by tortious conduct on the part of public entities access to the courts for redress. Fewer such people will be mercilessly and senselessly barred from recovery for their injuries sustained at the hands of the entities designed to serve them.

605 P.2d at 1236 through 1237.

This concept, that the Governmental Immunity Act (Utah Code Annotated Section 63-30-1 et. seq. (1953, as amended))

was not applicable to non-governmental functions, was reiterated in Dalton v. Salt Lake Suburban Sanitary District, 676 P.2d 399 (Utah 1984) where the operation of a sewage plant was held to be non-governmental in nature. Justice Howe, writing for the Court stated:

Since the Governmental Immunity Act does not purport to waive immunity for injury or damages caused in the exercise of a nongovernmental function, it is obvious that this statute of limitations applies only to actions brought to recover for injury or damage arising from the operation of governmental function, but where the Act waives immunity from suit and permits the action to be maintained.

This distinction is soundly based. Immunity never existed for injuries not arising from the exercise of a governmental function and thus the Act did not purport to waive it, expressly or impliedly.

676 P.2d at 400-401.

The Court then continued at 401 through 402:

In this respect, non-governmental claims are similar to equitable claims. In El Rancho Enterprises, Inc. v. Murray City, Utah 565 P.2d 778 (1977) this Court following Auerbach v. Salt Lake County, 23 Utah 103, 63 P.907 (1901) and Wall v. Salt Lake City, 50 Utah 593, 168 P. 766 (1970) held that where the claims of the Plaintiff are for equitable relief, there was not and never had been any governmental immunity and the requirements of notice of claim imposed by the Governmental Immunity Act did not apply.

In Cox v. Utah Mortgage & Loan Corporation, 716 P.2d 783 (Utah 1986), this Court held that when the function was non-governmental (supervision of disbursement from escrowed funds) that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act did not apply, and notice, as required by Utah Code Annotated Section 63-30-13 (1953, as amended) was not required.

In Cox, the Plaintiffs were allowed to proceed on one cause of action against a municipality because the supervision of the disbursement from escrowed funds was not uniquely governmental in nature. This was so despite no notice of claim being given. However, two claims were held barred for failure to give notice, because the duty to maintain and repair streets was a uniquely governmental function.

Thus, it is clear that no notice is required where the function is not uniquely governmental in its nature. See also Johnson v. Salt Lake City Corp., 629 P.2d 432 (Utah 1981) [providing recreational opportunities is non-governmental]; Thomas v. Clearfield City, 642 P.2d 737 (Utah 1982) [collection and disposal of sewage are non-governmental]; Madsen v. Borthick, 658 P.2d 627 (Utah 1983) [supervision of financial institutions is governmental]; Richards v. Leavitt, 716 P.2d 276 (Utah 1985) [maintaining streets is governmental].

It is also the law that an employee may be immune in some capacities, but not in others. In Doe v. Arguelles, 716 P.2d 279 (Utah 1985), a state employee was absolutely immune while performing discretionary functions, but was held not to be absolutely immune while implementing policy which is a "nondiscretionary, ministerial function". Id. at 283.

In this case, it must be determined whether Conger's conduct was uniquely governmental in nature. The conduct in which he was engaged was driving a motor vehicle. Clearly,

the operation of an automobile on a public highway is not uniquely governmental in its nature. Indeed, thousands of persons drive vehicles upon the public highways in Salt Lake County.

Even assuming that Conger was within the scope of his employment serving subpoenas, the principal of Doe, supra, indicates that his function of driving does not necessarily fall under his scope of employment. While serving papers may or may not be uniquely governmental, driving a car is not, making Conger liable under the Standiford and Doe doctrines.

## II

IT IS A DENIAL OF EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW  
TO GRANT GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYEES IMMUNITY NOT  
ENJOYED BY NON-EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN THE SAME  
CONDUCT

Traditionally, the immunity enjoyed by the government in the performance of governmental activity, did not extend to its employees. See Frank v. State, 613 P.3d 517 (Utah 1980); Connell v. Tooele City, 572 P.2d 697 (Utah 1977); Cornwall v. Larsen, 571 P.2d 925 (Utah 1977). However, in 1983, the Utah Legislature amended 63-30-13 of the Governmental Immunity Act to grant governmental immunity from suit when acting ". . . during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment . . .".

This Amendment violates Article I, Section 2 of the Utah Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment, Section I to the United States Constitution. Article I, Section 2 of the Utah Constitution provides that ". . .all free governments are founded on their authority for their equal protection and

benefit . . .". The Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1 to the United States Constitution provides that: "no state shall . .

deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." These provisions are violated to the extent that an injured party has no redress against a governmental employee who is engaged in the same conduct that non-governmental employees engage in, but who enjoy no immunity.

In this case, Conger was driving a vehicle, an activity engaged in by many people who are not governmental employees. In the absence of a unique governmental function, this classification has no justification and denies equal protection of the law to Schultz. To determine if the classification satisfies the equal protection clause, it must be determined that the classification has some rational relationship to legitimate governmental interests. U.S. Department of Agriculture v. Moreno, 93 S.Ct. 2821, 413 U.S. 528 (1973). The classification here is solely whether the tortfeasor is a government employee or non-employee.

A helpful analysis of this issue is found in Brown v. Wichita State University, 217 Kan., 279, 540 P.2d 66 (1975); modified on rehearing, 219 Kan., 2 547 P.2d 1015 (1976) [hereinafter referred to as Brown 1 and Brown 2]. In a nutshell, the Court, in Brown 1 held inter alia that the Governmental Immunity Act was unconstitutional, as it violated equal protection and due process. This was apparently the first challenge to legislatively imposed

immunity in Kansas, the earlier law on Governmental Immunity having been judicially imposed. On rehearing, the Court, in Brown 2, over three vigorous dissents, ruled that the legislature could reimpose immunity without violating constitutional protections. The Court held "absent violation of constitutional rights, the legislature may control governmental immunity." 547 P.2d at 1021. This Court has concurred in the reasoning and result of Brown 2 in Madsen v. Borthick, 658 P.2d 627, 629 (Utah 1983).

In the present case, only a portion of the Act is under attack. That portion must meet constitutional scrutiny under the Brown 2 test. The reasoning of Brown 1 concerning that portion of the Act is thus helpful. The Court stated:

. . .It is difficult for the majority of the Court to see why one governmental agency performing precisely the same acts . . . should be liable for negligence and others should be not [quoting from Carroll v. Kittle, 203 Kan. 841 457 P.2d 21, 27] . . .

A person's right to redress by due course of law does not become less worthy of protection because he or she was injured by a particular governmental unit. Nor does such a person's right to compensation become any the less worthy because of the type of governmental unit involved. Under present Kansas law, no regard is given to the injury or the facts and circumstances surrounding the events which caused the injury - it is the type of governmental agency and the activity which it is engaged that determines whether the aggrieved party will find the doors of the court open or closed. Such a classification is forced and unreal and greater burdens are imposed on some than others of the same desert. We find the classification contained in KSA 46-901, 902 [Kansas Governmental Immunity Act] are not only "baffling" but arbitrary, discriminatory and unreasonable.  
540 P.2d at 81.

In the present case, a person injured by a non-governmental employee has certain rights and redress which a person injured by a government employee does not have, solely based upon that distinction, although the injury and facts of the case are otherwise identical. Such a classification between governmental employees and non-employees engaged in the same conduct is artificial and discriminatory. The Brown <sup>1</sup> Court said this concerning that type of distinction:

The operative effect of such arbitrary distinctions are incompatible with the constitutional safeguards established by both the federal and Kansas Constitutions. Id. at 82.

The 1983 Amendment to the Utah Code Annotated, Section 63-30-13 violates the equal protection clause of the state and federal constitutions in that it gives preferential treatment for the same type of conduct to governmental employees and must therefore be stricken.

In addition, that Amendment violates the equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions in another respect. Utah Code Annotated Section, 31-41-4 (1953, as amended) in effect in 1984, when this accident took place, required every motor vehicle to have security in effect. Utah Code Annotated, Section 31-41-5 (1953, as amended) provided that the security could be in the form of insurance or other method approved by the Utah Insurance Department which afforded equivalent security to that offered by insurance. Thus, a person injured by the negligence of



another driver has four years within which to file a claim pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section, 78-12-25(2) (1953, as amended). However, if the driver is a government employee, the time is reduced to one year pursuant to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, even though both drivers are required by Section 31-41-4 to have insurance in effect. This denies the injured party equal protection of the law in that it unreasonably discriminates in favor of the governmental employee for the same wrong. The wrong is further amplified by the Utah Code Annotated, Section 63-30-29.5 (1953, as amended) which mandates that the insurance provided to cover government owned vehicles ". . . is deemed to provide the driver with the insurance coverage required by Chapter 41 Title 31 . . ." even though the employee at the time of the accident was not driving the vehicle ". . . within the course and scope of the driver's employment . . . ." This is so despite the fact that the 1983 Amendment to the Utah Code Annotated Section 63-30-13 only provides immunity to an employee acting " . . . during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment . . . ." Thus, an injured party has a four-year statute of limitations against a government employee not within the scope of employment when driving a vehicle, but only a one-year statute of limitation if the same employee, driving the same vehicle, negligently causes the accident while within the scope of employment,. This is so despite the fact that identical insurance coverage, as required by law, is in

effect. Such classification has no rational basis to a legitimate governmental interest and is "arbitrary, discriminatory and unreasonable" and must be held unconstitutional.

### III

#### THE NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT IS A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution states: "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law." The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution reads: "No person shall be . . . deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law." The Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1 to the United States Constitution states: "Nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law . . . ."

These Constitutional guarantees require notice and a hearing before the Government can deprive a person of a property right. In Buttrey v. Guaranteed Securities Company, 78 Utah 39, 300 P. 1040 (1931), this Court held that a cause of action is a property right protected by the Constitution. In that case, a cause of action arose under the Blue Sky laws in effect at that time. However, prior to bringing suit, the law was changed, destroying that cause of action. The Court held:

. . .her right of action was nevertheless within the protection of the Constitution and could not be destroyed by legislation. . . It is a vested right, in the nature of a property right, and ought to be regarded

as property in the sense that tangible things are property and equally protected by the Constitution against arbitrary interference by the Legislature.

300 P. 1045

In this case, Schultz became vested with a cause of action against Conger when he negligently caused his vehicle to collide with her vehicle. He was driving an unmarked car that had no indication on it, nor on the license plates, that it was owned by the government. Conger was not in any type of uniform or clothing that would indicate he was a government employee. Absent notice of government involvement, Schultz had a four-year statute of limitations within which to bring her suit, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section 78-12-25 (2) (1953, as amended). The legislature cannot alter that right via the Governmental Immunity Act when Schultz had no indication whatsoever that Conger was a governmental employee. In Brown 1, supra, the Court stated:

To say that the governmental immunity statutes in question subvert the concept of due process, is but to state the obvious for that doctrine blocks access to our courts to those seeking redress for injuries occasioned by the negligent act of a governmental entity.

540 P.2d at 82.

The Governmental Immunity Act, as applied to the facts of this case where no notice is available and a tort-feasor is a governmental employee, is a violation of due process. Schultz is, therefore, entitled to her day in Court.

#### IV

FACTUAL ISSUES REMAIN UNRESOLVED WHICH PRECLUDE THE GRANTING OF A MOTION TO DISMISS

Conger brought his Motion to Dismiss pursuant to the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and Rule 12(b)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, claiming the Court had no subject matter jurisdiction over the controversy. The subject matter of jurisdiction was not argued to the lower Court, Conger instead relying on the Notice provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 63-30-13 (1983 amendment). In order to qualify for immunity under that Section, Conger must be within the scope of his employment. See Foster v. Salt Lake County, 712 P.2d 224, 227 (Utah 1985). Whether or not he is within that scope are factual issues which Schultz is entitled to discover before having her claim dismissed.

The closest thing this Court has to come to determining that issue is a review of cases interpreting Rule 12(b)(6), which motion to dismiss has been treated as a Motion for summary judgment, as the Rule permits. In Holbrook Company v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975) this Court held that a motion to dismiss cannot be granted when factual issues remain. The Court stated:

Conversely, if there is any dispute as to any issue material to the settlement of the controversy, the Summary Judgment should not be granted.

542 P.2d at 193.

In this case, as in Holbrook, Conger has presented affidavits outside the scope of the pleadings themselves (Complaint and Motion to Dismiss) which extraneous documents appear to deal with Rule 12(b)(6) matters rather than 12(b)(1) matters. Because factual issues are unresolved,

Conger is not entitled to a dismissal. See also Harvey v. Sanders, 534 P.2d 905 (Utah 1975) and Lind v. Lynch, 665 P.2d 1276 (Utah 1983).

V

THE NOTICE PROVIDED BY STATE FARM INSURANCE  
COMPANY SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS OF UTAH  
CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 63-30-13 (1953,  
AS AMENDED)

This Court has had the opportunity to review the purpose of the Notice requirement of Utah Code Annotated Sections 63-30-13 (1953, as amended) in Sears v. Southworth, 563 P.2d 192 (Utah 1977). In Sears, this Court indicated that the purpose of the Notice requirement is to give the affected governmental entity the opportunity to promptly investigate the claim and to minimize any changes that may occur in an administration.

These purposes have been met in the instant case when State Farm, Schultz's insurance carrier, provided notice to Salt Lake County. The County had the opportunity to investigate the claim and apparently felt it was valid, as it paid Six Thousand Sixteen Dollars and 69/100 (\$6,016.69) as a claim arising from this accident. Since the purpose of the Notice requirement was met, there was no need for Schultz to file a duplicate notice. Having received a written notice and made payments thereon, the County and Conger are in no position to argue lack of notice.


CONCLUSION