1986

Le Ann Schultz v. Weldon Conger : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Governmental immunity has been waived for the negligent operation of a motor vehicle driven by an employee in the course and scope of his employment.^{1/} Immunity having been waived, plaintiff-Schultz was therefore required to file a notice of claim under the provisions of Sections 63-30-11 and 14 of the Immunity Act, not because driving an automobile is a governmental function but because service of process and notice is.

Having failed to file the statutorily required notice of claim, the District Court properly dismissed plaintiff-Schultz's complaint. The notice of claim filed by plaintiff's

^{1/} Section 63-30-7, Utah Code Annotated.

insurance carrier for Personal Injury Protection under the no-fault statute did not constitute notice under the Immunity Act; the carrier's notice was for a different claim, and did not meet the statutorily required elements for a notice of claim.

Plaintiff's own failure to take any steps to ascertain that the Governmental Immunity Act applied in this case, especially when she knew a county-owned vehicle was involved, does not excuse plaintiff-Schultz from complying with the mandatory notice requirements of the Immunity Act.

The constitutionality of the Governmental Immunity Act has previously been upheld by the court against challenges on the grounds of protection and due process; the constitutionality of the Act should again be sustained.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY HAS BEEN WAIVED FOR INJURY RESULTING FROM THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF A MOTOR VEHICLE.

Deputy Sheriff Conger makes no claim of immunity from suit under the Governmental Immunity Act for injuries allegedly caused by his negligent operation of a county-owned vehicle. The plaintiff-Schultz strenuously argues in her brief that driving a motor vehicle is not conduct which is uniquely governmental and, therefore, Deputy Conger should not be immune from suit. Conger does not disagree.

Deputy Conger is well aware, as Schultz apparently is not, that immunity from suit has been waived under the Governmental

Immunity Act for injury sustained from the negligent operation of a motor vehicle. Section 63-30-7 provides in relevant part:

"[I]mmunity from suit from all governmental entities is waived for injury resulting from the negligent operation of any employee of a motor vehicle or other equipment during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority...."

Schultz has not named Salt Lake County as a defendant, but has named Deputy Conger as a defendant in her claim for damages under Section 63-30-4(3) of the Act which provides in relevant part:

"(3) The remedy against a governmental entity or its employee for an injury caused by an act or omission which occurs during the performance of such employee's duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority is...exclusive of any other civil action or proceeding by reason of the same subject matter against the employee...unless the employee acted or failed to act through fraud or malice."

Schultz's argument that driving a vehicle is not a uniquely governmental activity ignores the statutory waiver of immunity in an attempt to cloud the fact that she failed to file a notice of claim as required by Sections 63-30-11 and 14 of the Immunity Act.

POINT II

THE SERVICE OF SUBPOENAS DURING THE SCOPE AND COURSE OF EMPLOYMENT BY A DEPUTY COUNTY SHERIFF CONSTITUTES A "GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION."

In the lower court, Schultz never raised the issue of whether Deputy Conger's conduct of serving subpoenas was a governmental function for which he and the County were

otherwise immune from suit under the provisions of the Immunity Act. Rather, her sole argument was, and on appeal continues to be, that driving a vehicle is not an activity which is uniquely governmental.

Schultz has also failed to recognize or raise at any point in this case the broader and essential issue of whether the statutorily imposed duty to serve process and notice "is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity."^{2/}

Conger submits that the statutory duty to serve process and notice meets both elements of the governmental function test set forth in Standiford. The sheriff is required by statute to serve process and notice. These terms are defined in Section 17-22-1, U.C.A., as follows:

"'Process' as used in this chapter includes all writs, warrants, summonses and orders of the courts or justice or judicial officers. 'Notice' includes all papers and orders, except process, required to be served in any proceeding before any court, board, commission or officer, or when required by law to be served independently of such proceedings."

The general duties of the sheriff are provided in Section 17-22-2, which provides in relevant part:

"The sheriff shall:

^{2/} Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230, 1236-1237 (1980).

(9) Serve all process and notice in the manner prescribed by law...."

Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires in part that:

"Every subpoena shall be issued by the clerk under the seal of the court, shall state the name of the court and the title of the action, and shall command each person to whom it is directed to attend and give testimony at a time and place therein specified. The clerk shall issue a subpoena, or a subpoena for the production of documentary evidence, signed and sealed but otherwise in blank, to a party requesting it, who shall fill it in before service." (Emphasis added).

Rule 4 also provides that failure to obey a subpoena makes a person subject to judicial contempt proceedings under this rule. It should be noted that in large part it is through subpoenas that the judicial branch of government is able to function in an orderly, efficient, and authoritative manner.

The duty of service of summons has been held to be obligatory and subject to the extraordinary writ of mandamus.^{3/} In Hamilton, the Oregon Court of Appeals interpreted that state's statutes, which are similar to Utah's, regarding the sheriff's duty to serve summons. In finding that the sheriff's duty to serve summonses was mandatory, regardless of the fact that private individuals over the years of 18 could also serve summons, the court held:

"We hold that the sheriff has a statutory duty to serve a summons in a civil action and the duty is enforceable by a writ of mandamus." Id. at 344.

^{3/} Hamilton v. Hamilton, 676 P.2d 341 (Or. App., 1984).

The court in Hamilton also found that even though private individuals could serve summons that all service of summons was governmental in nature and governed by statute. And while the courts had power to direct the sheriff to serve summons, orders and process, it had no such authority over private individuals.

That a private individual may also serve some process and notice does not alter the fact that these activities relate solely to judicial and quasi-judicial functions which are both uniquely governmental and essential to the core of governmental activity.

This court has held that it is axiomatic that a sheriff, in appointing deputy sheriffs, is acting in connection with his official duties. Snyder v. Cook, 688 P.2d 496, 498 (Ut. 1984). It should also be axiomatic that a sheriff performing his statutory duty of serving process and notice in connection with the judicial functions of state government is also an official duty for which he is immune.

The court's reasoning in Borthick where it expounded on the governmental function test announced in Standiford is germane in this case:

"Standiford's reference to activities that 'can only be performed by a governmental agency' does not preclude governmental immunity for supervisory functions in some respects similar to those that could be performed by a private association authorized by agreements such as self regulation by an industry." (Emphasis added). Id. at 631.

That a private individual may engage in conduct similar to that prescribed for sheriffs does not preclude the finding of a governmental function in the exercise of statutorily prescribed duties by a deputy sheriff.

Conger submits that he was engaged in the governmental function of service of process and notice in the course and scope of his employment as a deputy county sheriff at the time of the accident. Therefore, both he and the government would be totally immune from suit except for the waiver of immunity in Section 63-30-7, U.C.A. for negligent operation of a vehicle. However, plaintiff failed to file a notice of claim with the governmental entity as required by the Immunity Act, and Schultz's cause of action is now barred by the statute.

POINT III

THE FILING OF A NOTICE OF CLAIM WITH A GOVERNMENTAL BODY OF A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION IS A MANDATORY PREREQUISITE OF THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT PRIOR TO FILING SUIT IN A DISTRICT COURT.

- A. PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO FILE THE MANDATORY NOTICE OF CLAIM WITHIN ONE YEAR OF THE TIME IN WHICH THE CAUSE OF ACTION AROSE WAS FATAL TO PLAINTIFF'S ACTION. THE TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL OF HER LAWSUIT SHOULD BE SUSTAINED.

This court on numerous occasions has consistently held that the filing of a claim with the governing body of a governmental entity under the Governmental Immunity Act is mandatory and that failure to do so prohibits the bringing of an action against the governmental entity or its employee.

In Richards v. Leavitt, 716 P.2d 276 (Ut. 1985), this court determined that the subject cause of action arose under a

waiver of immunity under the Governmental Immunity Act and held the following regarding the statutory notice requirement:

"As the claim made by the plaintiff must be considered under waiver from immunity statutes, her claim is brought under the provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act. As such, the notice of claim requirements contained in U.C.A., Section 63-30-13 are mandated and her failure to comply with that provision bars her claim against Woodland Hills." Id. at 279. (Emphasis added).

In accord is Roosendaal Construction & Mining Corp. v. Holman, 28 U.2d 396, 503 P.2d 446 (Ut. 1972), where this court affirmed the dismissal of a complaint against the State Tax Commission on the grounds that the complaint was fatally defective in that it failed to allege compliance with the notice requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act.

Section 63-30-11(2), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, provides:

"Any person having a claim for injury against a governmental entity or against an employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority shall, before maintaining an action, file a written notice of claim with such entity."

Section 63-30-13, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, also provides:

"A claim against a political subdivision or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority, is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the governing body of a political subdivision within one year after the claim arises...." (Emphasis added).

As in Roosendaal, the complaint filed by Schultz also fails to allege compliance with the notice requirements of the Immunity Act and, therefore, the District Court properly dismissed her action.

In Yates v. Vernal Family Health Center, 617 P.2d 352 (Ut. 1980), this court again upheld the notice requirement of the Immunity Act and held:

"We think the Immunity Act is dispositive in that Section 63-30-13 provides:

'A claim against a political subdivision is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the governing body of the political subdivision within one year after the cause of action arises'. (Emphasis the court's).

The record reflects that no such notice was filed with the County Commission of Uintah County any time during the year following appellant's discovery of her injury, and hence the District Court was correct in dismissing the complaint as to Uintah County...with prejudice." (Emphasis added). Id. at 354.

Schultz, having neither pled nor actually filed a notice of claim with the governing body of the County as required by the Immunity Act, is barred in her attempt to bring an action against respondent Conger.

B. THE CLAIM FILED BY SCHULTZ'S INSURANCE CARRIER FOR PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION BENEFITS IS NOT A VALID NOTICE OF CLAIM UNDER THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.

Schultz concedes that she did not file a notice of claim with Salt Lake County under either Section 63-30-11 or 14 of the Governmental Immunity Act (Brief, p. 5). Having admittedly

failed to comply with the notice requirements of the Act, she nevertheless argues that the notice filed by her insurance company for Personal Injury Protection benefits under Section 31-41-6, Utah Code Annotated was sufficient to meet the purposes of the Immunity Act. Her position is without merit.

The form letter constituting the claim filed by State Farm does not meet the content requirements for notices as set forth in Section 63-30-11(3) of the Act in that it was not signed; not presented or signed by Schultz, her attorney, or her agent; did not specify any damage amount; did not set forth a statement of facts substantiating the claim; set forth only a possible claim for reimbursement for PIP benefits; and made no claim for loss of earnings, special damages, pain and suffering, nor for permanent, partial disability. (R-34).

It is well established under Utah law that a prerequisite in pursuing a claim against a governmental entity is full compliance with the notice requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act. Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480 (Ut. 1975); Madsen v. Borthick, 658 P.2d 627 (Ut. 1983).

In Scarborough, the plaintiff sued Granite School District to recover for injuries suffered by her son in a fall on a school playground. The trial court dismissed the complaint, finding that the action was barred due to plaintiff's failure to file a notice of claim as required by Section 63-30-13 of the Immunity Act. On appeal, plaintiff unsuccessfully argued that although there was no literal compliance with the statute in the usual form or sense, there was substantial compliance

and a sufficient "filing" of a claim to satisfy the requirements of the statute. In affirming the dismissal of plaintiff's action the Utah Supreme Court held:

"The school district is a political subdivision of the state. Therefore it would normally be immune from suit; and the right to sue is an exception created by statute. We have consistently held that where a cause of action is based upon a statute, full compliance with its requirements is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit. In order to so meet the requirements of the statute quoted above and fulfill its intended purpose, the 'filing' of a claim should include these essentials: that it be in writing; that it contain a brief statement of the facts and the nature of the claim asserted; that it be subscribed by the party required to give it and who intends to rely on it; that it be directed to and delivered to someone authorized to or responsible for receiving it; and that this be done within the prescribed time." Id. at 482. (Emphasis added).

Clearly the notice submitted by Schultz's insurance carrier for PIP benefits was for an entirely separate and distinct claim from plaintiff's subsequent claim as contained in her complaint.

The Utah No-Fault Act, Section 31-41-11 in effect at the time this action arose and under which the insurance carrier filed its notice, provides that (in this case) State Farm shall be reimbursed by Salt Lake County or if there is "an issue of liability for such reimbursement and the amount of same shall be decided by mandatory, binding arbitration between the insurers."

This court has made it clear that State Farm does not even have a subrogation right to PIP funds claimed by its insured.

Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (Ut. 1980). The insurance carrier's only right to such funds is created by the above-referenced statute and must be sought from the tort-feasor or the tort-feasor's insurance carrier. The only way to enforce the right of reimbursement is through arbitration. The claim presented by State Farm therefore could not be and is not a notice on behalf of the plaintiff for her claims over and above the no-fault PIP funds requested by the insurance carrier.

The insurance carrier cannot be plaintiff's agent inasmuch as the insurance carrier has no authority to represent Schultz in the collection of her personal claim for damages over and above the PIP benefits. Her insurance carrier has no legal interest or obligation under its insurance contract to do so.

C. SCHULTZ'S FAILURE TO DISCOVER CONGER'S STATUS AS A DEPUTY COUNTY SHERIFF DOES NOT TOLL THE MANDATORY NOTICE REQUIREMENT OF THE IMMUNITY ACT.

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